





The potential of Froebelian philosophy to support and engage low-income families in the early years

Research report to the Froebel Trust

November 2024

Professor Kate Hoskins (Principal Investigator, Brunel University of London)

Professor Emma Wainwright (Co-Investigator, Brunel University of London)

Dr Utsa Mukherjee (Co-Investigator, Brunel University of London)

Dr Yuwei Xu (Co-Investigator, University of Nottingham)

Dr Asma Lebbakhar (Researcher, Brunel University of London)

Contact details:

Kate.hoskins@brunel.ac.uk

Contents

Acknowledgments	3
Executive Summary	4
Introduction	6
Context	6
The Research	8
Conclusion	17
References	18
Appendices	20
Appendix 1: Participant Information Sheet	20
Appendix 2: Participant Consent Form	22
Appendix 3: Aide Memoire	23
Appendix 4: Dissemination activities and impact	24

Acknowledgments

We are grateful to The Froebel Trust for supporting this project as part of the 2022 Open Grants programme. Our thanks also go to HomeStart, Red Hen Project, and the primary school in Nottingham for their support throughout the fieldwork phase of this project and all the participants in this study who shared their stories with us.

Executive Summary

Research Objectives

This project has worked with low-income families (with annual income of less than £10,000) from diverse ethnic backgrounds in early years settings run by HomeStart and Red Hen Project (both UK charities) to explore the potential of Froebelian philosophy to support and engage such families in ways that matter to them. Focusing on play, the project addresses the following objectives:

- To understand the significance and relevance of play in the daily lives of low-income families.
- To understand the key challenges facing these families and examine the way play opportunities can be improved for them.
- To build on and develop Froebelian ideas to consider how they could become more relevant and meaningful.
- To inform policy by mobilising more inclusive iterations of Froebelian pedagogies as an instrument for multidimensional social justice.

The research was undertaken between April 2022 and November 2024.

Key Findings

- The integration of Froebelian principles by low-income parents confronts several
 substantial obstacles. First, a lack of resources and time can limit their ability to
 apply Froebelian concepts. Parents who are striving to meet their families' basic
 needs often have limited time to devote to child-centred, play-based activities.
 Furthermore, limited access to child-friendly materials for hands-on learning poses a
 challenge.
- Second, stressors related to poverty are also a major deterrent. Chronic stress
 associated with low income, such as worry about finances, housing instability, and
 food insecurity, can impact parents' capacity to consistently apply Froebel's
 principles. Parents in these circumstances can therefore find it challenging to create
 the calm, secure environments Froebel advocated for children's play and
 exploration.

Third, there is possibly limited awareness or understanding of Froebelian principles
among these parents. They might not fully engage with Froebel's ideas due to the
language used, which can be off putting and creates a distance between families and
the principles' intentions.

Recommendations

While these challenges are significant, there are potential strategies to mitigate them. For example, parental education programmes can be an effective method to equip low-income parents with Froebelian-informed knowledge about the importance of play. Such programmes could include hands-on training and resources to help parents integrate these principles at home. The programmes should be sensitive to materialistic, emotional, and time constraints of low-income families.

Another solution is community-based initiatives, such as family hubs, toy libraries or playgroups, which could provide access to child-friendly materials and social opportunities, further supporting play-based learning.

Policy interventions are another crucial component of the solution. Policymakers could address systemic issues, such as the high cost and limited availability of quality early childhood education for low-income families. Potential interventions could include subsidies for early childhood education programmes, providing free or low-cost educational resources to low-income families, and investing in community infrastructure to create safe and stimulating environments for children to play and learn.

In conclusion, while the barriers to incorporating Froebelian principles among low-income parents are substantial, various strategies offer promising avenues for overcoming these challenges. However, comprehensive solutions will require a multifaceted approach, combining individual support for parents, community initiatives, and long-term policy interventions with the associated financial commitment.

Introduction

This project worked with low-income families (with annual income of less than £10,000) from diverse ethnic backgrounds in early years settings run by HomeStart and Red Hen Project (both UK charities) to explore the potential of Froebelian philosophy to support and engage such families in ways that matter to them. Focusing on play, the project addressed the following objectives:

- 1. To understand the significance and relevance of play in the daily lives of low-income families.
- 2. To understand the key challenges facing these families and examine the way play opportunities can be improved for them.
- 3. To build on and develop Froebelian ideas to consider how they could become more relevant and meaningful.
- 4. To inform policy by mobilising more inclusive iterations of Froebelian pedagogies as an instrument for multidimensional social justice.

The proposed project is particularly timely since the early years sector has been at the forefront of the COVID-19 pandemic, providing economic, social and emotional support to low-income families (Seivwright, Callis, and Flatau, 2022). The ongoing cost of living crisis too has hit these households the hardest (Hill and Webber, 2022). Research is therefore needed to understand the challenges facing low-income families from diverse backgrounds in engaging their children with play opportunities. In doing so, this project bridges Froebelian philosophy and contemporary social science scholarship on low-income families in early years setting, thereby developing Froebelian ideas in new, productive directions and interrogating their potential to address inequalities in early year contexts through policy change.

Context

The day-to-day lived experiences of low-income families are often omitted in social research due to the reluctance of such families to participate (Xu et al., 2021; Wainwright and Hoskins, 2021; Wainwright et al., 2024; Hoskins et al., 2024), stemming from concerns about

providing ethical consent, class stigma and fear of losing their children (Wilson and McGuire, 2021) amongst other complex reasons. These families are therefore hard to reach and this gap in the literature is particularly acute when it comes to low-income families from ethnic minority backgrounds (Brannon et al, 2013). Without the views and perspectives of these marginalised families, policy and practice, including those linked to Froebelian philosophy, cannot fully address their needs or tackle social inequalities more broadly.

Contribution to Froebelian philosophy

Friedrich Froebel, a German educator from the 19th century, established an influential early childhood education (ECE) philosophy (Bruce, 2021). His pedagogical approach, often referred to as "Froebelian principles", is based on the belief that children learn best through self-directed play and hands-on experiences, echoing a "learning by doing" philosophy (Hoskins and Smedley, 2019; Castner and Maron-Puntarelli, 2022).

One of Froebel's central key concepts, "free flow play" (Bruce, 2011), emphasises the importance of play as the foundation for intellectual, social, and emotional development. His ideas of guided play and creativity through activities such as block building, nature study, and gardening have been heralded for encouraging curiosity, observation, and exploration (Hirschi, 2017; Hoskins and Smedley, 2019). These principles help create a space for a child's growth, including their thinking skills, feelings, and physical development.

Furthermore, Froebel championed the idea of 'unity' (Dar, 2018), stating that children should be educated in the context of their family, community, religion and nature, an idea aligning with the contemporary emphasis on socio-cultural contexts in ECE acknowledging the role that social interactions and cultural practices play in a child's learning and development (Vygotsky, 1977). He also emphasised the role of educators, viewing them not as instructors, but as facilitators who guide children's learning and foster their innate abilities (Taylor and Boyer, 2020). This idea has significantly influenced the development of modern early years' pedagogies, promoting an active role for the child in their learning journey, often referred to as child-centred education (Bruce, 2011).

In recent years, Froebelian principles have been recognised for their potential in providing solid foundations for children's lifelong learning and development (Tovey, 2017; Murray, 2018; Hoskins and Smedley, 2019; Cowan and Flewitt, 2020; Smedley and Hoskins, 2020). There is a growing body of research indicating that the creative, play-based learning championed by Froebel can lead to positive learning outcomes and lifelong achievement, enhancing children's cognitive and emotional development, creativity, and social skills.

In spite of the considerable attention given to Froebel's principles in formal early childhood education settings, their application in informal learning contexts, such as homes, has been less explored. This gap in the literature is particularly pertinent considering the significant role families play in children's early development, especially in the context of low-income families where access to formal, high-quality early childhood education may be limited.

The Research

We took a three-phase qualitative, family-centred approach to examine how parents with children attending HomeStart centres and Red Hen Project understand and enact play at home and any opportunities and/or challenges they perceive or experience in relation to Froebelian principles. The study includes three contrasting case study locations in urban, suburban and rural areas.

Phase 1: parent/ recruitment

An informal discussion was held in each case study location. Parents/carers were invited to reflect on their understanding of play at home and any perceived benefits/challenges they encounter. We shared the key Froebelian principles of play (Bruce, 2012; Tovey, 2016), with parents/carers through an interactive, question and answers-based discussion.

Phase 2: in situ play reflections

Participants from the question and answer based session were invited over a four-week period, to reflect on and consider the possibility of enacting Froebel's ideas in relation to their involvement in play with their child/children. Participants were encouraged to keep a

note of their perceptions, understanding and experiences of Froebelian play and to record two or three examples of play (notepads were provided – voice notes, photos, videos etc).

Phase 3: interviews

Finally, parents were invited back to discuss experiences, perceptions and understandings of Froebelian play, reflecting on the:

- Influences of socio-economic status on parents'/carers' enactment of Froebelian play principles at home.
- Relevance of Froebelian principles to these families.
- Development of these principles to become more relevant to this group.
- Mobilisation of more inclusive iterations of Froebelian pedagogies.

Families with an annual income of less than £10,000 from a range of ethnic and racial backgrounds were recruited. They were located in a mix of urban, suburban and rural areas. Each team member led one case study, supported by the research assistant (RA).

To construct the sample, we worked in partnership with HomeStart and Red Hen Project, both UK charities that work with low-income families with young children aged from birth to six with whom we have established productive partnerships.

Sample demographic information

Setting 1 – Upton Marsh (suburban)

Pseudonyms	Age	Number of	Profession (If	Ethnicity
		children (ages if	any)	
		known)		
Anna	27	1 (14 months)	Student	Angolan/Portuguese
Elisa	30	2 (2 years old	Unemployed	Nigerian
		and 5 months		
		old)		
Inayah	40	1 (1 year and 7	Unemployed	Indian (Punjabi)
		months)		
Marie	41	2 (2 years and 4	Unemployed	Japanese
		months; 11		
		months)		
Polina	30	1 (2 years old)	Unemployed	Belarusian
Poojam	31	1 (14 months)	Unemployed	Indian

Lisa	43	6 (26; 23; 18; 21	Unemployed	White British
		months and 5		
		months)		
Tanya	23	1 (1 ½ months)	Unemployed	Polish

Setting 2 – Townsfield (urban)

Pseudonyms	Age	Number of	Profession	Ethnicity
		children (ages if		
		known)		
Rita	36	1 (2 ½)	Unemployed	Indian
Nigora	35	2 (4 ½ / 2 ½)	Unemployed	Afghan
Leila	33	2 (2 years and 5	Unemployed	Iranian
		months old)		
Maha	39	1 (18 months)	Unemployed	Iranian
Leyna	24	1 (3 years old)	Unemployed	White British
Flora	25	2 (3 and 2 years	Unemployed	Albanian
		old)		
Amele	33	1 (18 months)	Unemployed	Algerian
Parveen	40	3 (8; 6;2)	Unemployed	Indian
Julie	32	2 (15; 4)	Unemployed	White British

Setting 3 – East Hillshead (rural)

Pseudonyms	Age	Number of children (ages if known)	Profession (If any)	Ethnicity
Emma	36	2 (4; 14)	Unemployed	White British
Britney	38	6 (13; 12; 10; 6; 4; 3)	Unemployed	White British
Carol		2 (2; 4)	Unemployed	White British
Jane	35	2 (18; 4)	Unemployed	White British
Lola	31	5 (13; 10; 9; 4; 2)	Unemployed	White British
Susan	43	6 (23; 20; 17; 14; 8; 4)	Unemployed	White British
Zahra	30	3 (7; 5; 3)	Unemployed	British Bangladeshi
Valerie	36	4 (14; 12; 8; 4)	Unemployed	White British

Setting 4 - Ridgeborough (rural)

Pseudonyms	Age	Number of children (ages if known)	Profession (If any)	Ethnicity
Ava		1 (1)	Unemployed	Black African
Rose		1 (1 and half)	Unemployed	Nigerian
Stephanie		7 (12/8/7/6/5/ 3/1)	Unemployed	White British
Tara		1 (1)	Unemployed	Kenyan
Vivian	26	1 (1 and half)	Unemployed	Black African
Tamara		4 (5/9/12/20)	Unemployed	Zimbabwean

The findings are presented in the two following sections, with the first section focusing on Objectives 1 and 2, the second section on Objectives 3 and 4.

The significance and challenges of low-income families' efforts to enact play

This section is organised by themes identified through the data analysis and the key research objectives under investigation, as follows:

Obj. 1 - To understand the significance and relevance of play in the daily lives of low-income families

We noted that the play was significant and relevant to all of our families. We focused on parents' own past experiences of play to understand where, what and how they played. These play experiences were often marked by coming from low-income families:

- My family is not rich, so poor family (Inayah)
- We didn't have a lot of toys, and we had to makeshift with whatever we had. We played with barely minimum, but we used a lot of imagination (Amele)
- We basically grew up in a war country...Whatever we had, even the small things that made us appreciate a lot (Nigora)

Within our sample of 32 families, the majority of parents (n=18) are first-generation migrants. There is limited research on parents' childhood rememberings of play (Mavroudi and Holt, 2021), and implications for children. Parental experiences of migration mediate conceptualisations and aspirations for childhood and their low-income and limited resources shape current/ future play possibilities. Gender was a salient feature shaping play amongst the migrant participants, who reflected on their own childhood play as follows:

- I had to take care of other children, my siblings (Maria)
- To be honest, parents in India, for girls, they want to keep us in ... the girls who start their periods, not allowed to go out playing with the boys (Parveen)

Despite the different experiences of play in their own childhoods, all participants noted that play was very important for their own children:

- Oh, it's (play) very important (Polina)
- I search and I read a lot of articles that shows that playing with the babies ... it's very important for their future (Maha)
- I want her to be playful. I want her to explore things (Rita)

These findings confirm that play is both significant and relevant in the daily lives of low-income families.

Obj.2 - To understand the key challenges facing these families and examine the way play opportunities can be improved for them

There were real challenges related to time, space and resources. A selection of the data we collected confirms these points as follows:

• He didn't have floor time not much because it's very little space. He wants to walk but he has no space... Before I wasn't playing with him at all I would just let him in the crib just because... I study and we live in a small place in the student flat so

- there's no space to play. I would just put him in the crib but then realised that he was not meeting the milestones so he was having a lot of delays (Anna)
- At home he doesn't have so much freedom. At home there are walls and he's very there's not so much space. He's just always by your side and you're always looking at
 him yes (Polina)
- I wish I could spend more time to play with her. Now she's starting to get very much into books she wants me to read to her... sometimes I can't. I can't do that every time because I have to attend to the brother I have to make meals I have to clean the house and it's sometimes difficult when you have a small space because everything is going on in that space (Elisa)
- You can't just get up one morning and think oh I'm going to take them swimming or
 we're going to go to the beach because you go to the beach you've got to counter in
 food and petrol and everything else. So you really do have to use your imagination
 so they're not getting bored and oh my God it's the park again (Lisa)

We also noted that the seasons played a role. In the winter months our families reported limited access to affordable indoor play spaces, making it difficult to maintain play routines.

- It's so hard to keep him entertained when it's cold outside. He loves to run around, but in winter, we're stuck indoors most of the time (Amele)
- We go to the park every day when it's warm, but in winter, it's hard. The kids want to play, but it's too cold outside. We end up going to indoor places like Snakes and Ladders, but we can't go too often because it's expensive. So a lot of the time, we just stay at home, but then they get bored (Flora)
- He loves being outside, but we don't have a garden, so we have to rely on the park.
 But even getting to the park isn't always easy, especially if it's raining or cold. And when we're at home, it feels like there's not enough space for him to really play. He wants to run around, but we don't have the room for that (Leyna)
- There are high costs associated with indoor play centres. The participants noted there are hidden costs, even in "free" spaces like cafés with play areas. The

requirement to buy food or drinks to use the playroom adds to the financial burden already faced by low income parents during the winter, when indoor alternatives become essential as they are often living in confined accommodations. Thus, many families are forced to "stay at home", further restricting their children's play opportunities. Maybe twice a month I try to take them somewhere different, like to the soft play, but as you know, they are so expensive, I can't do it every day (Nigora)

 There's another church, there is the café and the playroom inside [...] because it's in the church, it's more expensive than in a normal café, but you have to buy a coffee for them to play there (Flora)

These findings point to the challenges facing low-income families as they seek to provide play opportunities for their children. The participants expressed strong aspirations for children's play and future childhoods. We note that our parents find ways to recreate positive playful, and counter negative playless, experiences, but support and resources are limited and have diminished due to the cost of living crisis in the UK. The current context contributes to a situation where "the 'everydayness of play' is not adequately facilitated" (Casey and McKendrick, 2023: 1369).

The relevance and meaning of Froebelian play to enhance inclusion and multidimensional social justice

In this second finding section, we address objectives 3 and 4:

Obj. 3 - To build on and develop Froebelian ideas to consider how they could become more relevant and meaningful

The participants expressed overwhelmingly positive perceptions of the principles:

- I actually liked the approach... I learned what he wants and what he's capable of and
 he learns that he even himself I think he didn't know that he was capable to play
 with cars or anything like that and he can do that (Anna)
- Actually I really like it because I see that for example if I want to tell about the children's centre it's really good and sometimes they have events for the baby to

connect them to the nature. ... For example in my childhood I could learn from nature easily by myself by playing in the street in the alley. Now because it's not safe there is lots of class and there is lots of events here that learn the baby most of things (Maha)

• I completely agree with the principles. I think that's what should happen, because we need to keep the natural things. If it's come up to me or my children, I will teach them how to survive with the natural things. I think it's very important (Parveen)

But some participants expressed reservations such as those shared by Julie:

• It's interesting reading these because I could see a lot of very relatable things within it. Personally I think the language is quite... I don't know how to describe it. I mean it's obviously meant to be formal but very formal. They make sense and like I say I can relate to them but just initially they don't feel very user-friendly. They just feel a bit harsh.

We noted that parents naturally integrate Froebelian principles, such as creativity, autonomy, and connection to nature, into their children's play. Despite limited resources, they use everyday materials and household items to support creative and exploratory play. These practices align with Froebel's emphasis on letting children learn through exploration and creativity.

- He went to pick raspberries... we started crushing them and drawing on the pavement. He was engaged for a good half hour... It's all about letting him lead the way (Amele)
- But we've been doing it for so many generations, we just don't know it, especially coming from different types of backgrounds. We used to sleep on the floor... Yes, I think these principles are much more connected to real life (Maha)

However, the specifics of Froebel's educational philosophy (the principles) were never explicitly mentioned by the participants. Their understanding seems more general, focusing on the broader aspects of child-centred play and development rather than the subtle pedagogical approach of the Froebel principals.

Obj. 4 - To inform policy by mobilising more inclusive iterations of Froebelian pedagogies as an instrument for multidimensional social justice

This study aims to connect Froebelian educational principles with social justice by making Froebelian-inspired practices more accessible to low-income families, particularly in early years settings. Our research explores ways to adapt these principles to address the needs of families facing substantial financial and practical challenges, paving the way for more inclusive and equitable applications of Froebel's ideas, which traditionally tend to benefit educated, middle-class families (Hewes, 1985; Brehony, 1988; Hoskins and Smedley, 2016).

In particular, our study highlights:

Making Froebelian Principles more adaptable: The findings reveal that although low-income families face many challenges, namely, financial and spatial, they can still incorporate Froebelian ideas when these practices are tailored to their specific needs. There is evidence of the need to create inclusive approaches that take into account the limited resources of these families and allow Froebel's focus on nurturing children's creativity, independence, and exploration accessible to a broader range of families.

Supporting policy recommendations: We suggest that policymakers consider financial and spatial barriers and implement supports, such as community-based play resources and subsidised access to early years facilities, to allow Froebelian-inspired play to flourish. Providing affordable access to indoor facilities, particularly during the winter months when outdoor play is restricted (Ergler et al., 2013) would allow families to overcome seasonal limitations on their children's play routines.

Encouraging Community Partnerships: Working with organisations like HomeStart and Red Hen Project, our study shows the importance of community support in promoting Froebelian play. Collaborating with local councils, early years centres, and other non-profit organisations could extend play-based learning resources to low-income families, making this educational approach more widespread and allowing more families to benefit from it. In addition, there is a need to shift the responsibility for children's play away from individual

parents alone and invest in durable and affordable social infrastructure that enables parents to support their children's play and incorporate Froebelian principles therein.

Through targeted policy changes and strong community support, our study aims to make Froebelian play and learning accessible for all children, giving every child the chance to benefit from the Froebelian principles, regardless of their socioeconomic background.

Conclusion

This study has provided significant insights into both the challenges and opportunities facing low-income families as they seek to engage with Froebel's principles of play. The findings lead us to make several recommendations for change, from the need to work on the principles to ensure that are as inclusive as possible for culturally diverse low-income families to the need for policy and community interventions that will enable an increase in the provision of safe play spaces for all.

References

Brannon, E.E., Kuhl, E.S., Boles, R.E., Aylward, B.S., Benoit Ratcliff, M., Valenzuela, J.M., Johnson, S.L. and Powers, S.W., 2013. Strategies for recruitment and retention of families from low-income, ethnic minority backgrounds in a longitudinal study of caregiver feeding and child weight. *Children's Health Care*, 42(3), pp.198-213.

Brehony, K. J. 1988. *The Froebel movement and state schooling 1880-1914: A study in educational ideology* (Doctoral dissertation, The Open University).

Bruce, T., 2011. EYFS best practice: All about... Friedrich Froebel. Nursery World. https://www.nurseryworld.co.uk/content/features/eyfs-best-practice-all-about-friedrich-froebel/ [Accessed: 09/11/2024]

Bruce, T., 2021. *Friedrich Froebel: A critical introduction to key themes and debates*. London: Bloomsbury Publishing.

Casey, T. and McKendrick, J.H., 2023. Playing through crisis: Lessons from COVID-19 on play as a fundamental right of the child. *The International Journal of Human Rights*, 27(9-10), pp.1369-1388.

Castner, D.J. and Maron-Puntarelli, C. 2022. Revitalizing a humanizing vision: Contesting GERM policies through Froebel. *Global Education Review* 9(1), pp. 38–53.

Cowan, K. and Flewitt, R., 2020. The need for transformative change. Transforming Early Childhood in England, p.119.

Dar, R.A., 2018. Educational thought of Friedrich August Froebel. *International Journal of Advanced Multidisciplinary Scientific Research* (IJAMSR), 1(9), pp.36-42.

Ergler, C.R., Kearns, R.A. and Witten, K., 2013. Seasonal and locational variations in children's play: Implications for wellbeing. *Social science & medicine*, 91, pp.178-185.

Hewes, D.W., 1985. Compensatory Early Childhood Education: Froebelian Origins and Outcomes.

Hill, K. and Webber, R., 2022. From pandemic to cost of living crisis: Low-income households in challenging times. *Joseph Rowntree Foundation*.

Hirschi, J.S., 2017. *Ripe for change: Garden-based learning in schools*. Cambridge: Harvard Education Press.

Hoskins, K., Wainwright, E., Arabaci, R., Zhai, J., Gao, J. and Xu, Y. 2024. Engaging low-income families in education research: examining the challenges in Beijing and London. Compare: A Journal of Comparative and International Education. https://doi.org/10.1080/03057925.2024.2429825

Hoskins, K. and Smedley, S., 2019. Tina Bruce (b. 1947): Advocating and practising Froebelian principles. *In British Froebelian Women from the Mid-Nineteenth to the Twenty-First Century* (pp. 164-179). Routledge.

Mavroudi, E. and Holt, L., 2021. Learning to be (multi) national: Greek diasporic childhood rememories of nationalism and nation-building in Australia. *Children's Geographies*, 19(5), pp.552-566.

Murray, J., 2018. Early childhood pedagogies: Spaces for young children to flourish. In *Early Childhood Pedagogies* (pp. 1-18). Oxford: Routledge.

Seivwright, A.N., Callis, Z. and Flatau, P.R., 2023. Perspectives of socioeconomically disadvantaged parents on their children's coping during COVID-19: Implications for practice. *Children & Society*, 37(2), pp.388-403.

Smedley, S. and Hoskins, K., 2020. Exploring the role of Froebelian theory in constructing early years practitioners' sense of professionalism. *Early Years*, 42(2), pp.217-231.

Taylor, M.E. and Boyer, W., 2020. Play-based learning: Evidence-based research to improve children's learning experiences in the kindergarten classroom. *Early Childhood Education Journal*, 48(2), pp.127-133.

Tovey, H., 2016. Bringing the Froebel approach to your early years practice. London: Routledge.

Vygotsky, L.S., 1977. The development of higher psychological functions. *Soviet Psychology*, 15(3), pp.60-73.

Wainwright, E., Hoskins, K., Arabaci, R., Zhai, J., Gao, J. and Xu, Y. (2024) 'Researching the Everyday Educational Lives of Low-Income Families: The Importance of Researcher and Participant Contexts'. *British Journal of Educational Studies*, pp. 1 - 21.

Wainwright, E. and Hoskins, K., 2023. Spatial—temporal enactments of home-schooling among low-income families of primary-aged children. *Educational Review*, pp.1-19.

Wilson, S. and McGuire, K., 2021. 'They'd already made their minds up': understanding the impact of stigma on parental engagement. *British Journal of Sociology of Education*, 42(5-6), pp.775-791.

Appendices

Appendix 1: Participant Consent Form

Study title: The potential of Froebelian philosophy to support and engage low-income families in the early years

Dr Kate Hoskins

APPROVAL HAS BEEN GRANTED FOR THIS STUDY TO BE CARRIED OUT BETWEEN 19/6/2023 and 31/5/2024

The participant (or their legal representative) should complete the whole of this sheet.					
		YES	NO		
Have you read the Participant Information Shee					
Have you had an opportunity to ask questions a researchers (via email/phone)?	and discuss this study with the				
Have you received satisfactory answers to all you email/phone)?	our questions (via				
Do you understand that you will not be referred concerning this study?	to by name in any report				
Do you understand that:			•		
You are free to withdraw from this study	at any time?				
You do not have to give any reason for v					
You can withdraw your data any time up	30 th June 2024.				
I agree to my interview being audio recorded an to be made.	d for anonymised transcripts				
I agree to the use of non-attributable quotes whe published.	en the study is written up or				
The procedures regarding confidentiality have b	een explained to me.				
I agree that my anonymised data can be stored researchers for use in future projects.	and shared with other				
I agree to take part in this study.					
Signature of research participant:					
Print name:	Date:				
Your contact number:					

Appendix 2: Participant Information Sheet

Study title

The potential of Froebelian philosophy to support and engage low-income families in the early years

Invitation Paragraph

You are invited to take part in a research study. Before you decide, it is important for you to understand why the research is being done and what it will involve. Please take time to read the following information carefully and discuss it with others if you wish. Ask me if there is anything that is not clear or if you would like more information. Take time to decide whether or not you wish to take part. Thank you for reading this.

What is the purpose of the study?

The study is concerned with understanding the day-to-day lived experiences of low-income families from diverse ethnic backgrounds in early years settings to explore the potential of Froebel's theories of learning through play. We will provide you with a brief overview of Froebel's views on early childhood including the importance of play, nature and child centred activities. Research is needed to understand the challenges facing low-income families from diverse backgrounds in engaging their children with play opportunities.

Why have I been invited to participate?

You have been invited as you attend the Little Starters sessions run by Homestart or play sessions run by Red Hen Project.

Do I have to take part?

As participation is entirely voluntary, it is up to you to decide whether or not you take part in this research. If you do decide to consent to them taking part, you will be given this information sheet to keep and you will be asked to sign a consent form. If you decide to take part you are still free to withdraw at any time up until the day of the interview, without having to give a reason.

What will happen to me if I take part?

If you participate you will be asked to take part in an initial focus group with other parents held at your HomeStart Little Starters session or Red Hen Project play session. You will then be asked, over a four-week period, to reflect on and consider the possibility of enacting Froebel's ideas in relation to your child's involvement in play. Participants will be encouraged to keep a note of their perceptions, understanding and experiences of Froebelian play and to record two or three examples of play (notepads will be provided – voice notes, photos, videos etc). Finally, you will be interviewed, along with your child if they are three or older, to share your experiences, perceptions and understandings of Froebelian play and any challenges you encountered.

Are there any lifestyle restrictions?

There are no lifestyle restrictions associated with this research.

What are the possible disadvantages and risks of taking part?

There are no anticipated disadvantages or risks associated with taking part in this research.

What are the possible benefits of taking part?

Taking part will enable you to further reflect upon your child's opportunities for play.

Will my taking part in this study be kept confidential?

Confidentiality will be assured with one exception, e.g. if during the course of the research evidence of harm or misconduct come to light, then it may be necessary to break confidentiality. We will tell you if I think we need to do this, and let you know what will happen next.

Will I be recorded, and how will the recording be used?

The interview will be audio-recorded and will be kept securely. Once the interview has been transcribed and pseudonyms used to protect individual identity the audio recordings will be deleted/erased.

What will happen to the results of the research study?

The results of this research will be evaluated and shared with HomeStart and Red Hen Project and form the basis of academic publications.

Who is organising and funding the research?

This research is funded by the Froebel Trust. The research is organised by Dr Kate Hoskins (kate.hoskins@brunel.ac.uk) from the Department of Education, Brunel University London.

What are the indemnity arrangements?

Brunel University London provides appropriate insurance cover for research which has received ethical approval

Who has reviewed the study?

This study has been reviewed by the College of Business, Arts and Social Sciences Research Ethics Committee.

Research Integrity

Brunel University London is committed to compliance with the Universities UK *Research Integrity Concordat*. You are entitled to expect the highest level of integrity from the researchers during the course of this research.

Contact for further information

If you are based in the UK and interested in participating, please contact Kate (kate.hoskins@brunel.ac.uk) for information and to arrange an interview.

Contact for complaints

For complaints, please contact the Chair of the Research Ethics Committee: Cbass-ethics@brunel.ac.uk".

To share material

Please send the images and videos to our Research Assistant, Dr Asma Lebbakhar.

Appendix 3: Interview Aide Memoire

Purpose: parents and children over the age of three will be invited back to discuss experiences, perceptions and understandings of Froebelian play, reflecting on the:

- Influences of socio-economic status on parents'/carers' enactment of Froebelian play principles at home.
- Relevance of Froebelian principles to these families.
- Development of these principles to become more relevant to this group.
- Mobilisation of more inclusive iterations of Froebelian pedagogies.

Introductory questions

- How did the play sessions go? Describe them to me?
- What was the role of adults in that play?

Thinking about your own child's play

- On reflection, how important is play to your child?
- Where did your child play?
- Did you play with them? What/who else do they play with?
- What were any of the challenges to your child's play? Prompt space, resources, time, safety

Froebel: principles and practice

- Taking each principle in turn, ask how relevant they are to the family
 - Unity and connectedness
 - Autonomous learners
 - o The value of childhood in its own right
 - o Relationships matter
 - Creativity and the power of symbols
 - The central importance of play
 - o Engaging with nature

What are the issues of taking a Froebelian approach to supporting and enabling your child's play?

Is there anything else you would like to tell me about your participation in this project not already covered?

Appendix 4: Dissemination activities and impact

The following dissemination activities have been undertaken:

• Low-income families: providing empirical evidence of parental perspectives and experiences of Froebelian play principles as a means to enhance their child's/children's wellbeing, self-expression and learning, for dissemination to parents through a project website and end of project key findings podcast;

The web material will be hosted on Brunel University of London EIS research group pages and The Froebel Trust website to ensure the ongoing accessibility of the materials (podcast, pamphlet, briefing paper, academics papers) produced.

Practitioners: providing an end of project key findings pamphlet and podcast summarising empirical
evidence of a demographically diverse group of parents' perspectives and involvement in play to reveal
areas where practitioners could further work with and learn from parents/carers to extend play
opportunities in the home;

The pamphlet is available and being shared through our networks. Practitioners were invited to attend our end of project events at The University of Nottingham on 16th October 2024 and Brunel University of London on 27th November 2024.

• Early years leadership: providing an end of project key findings pamphlet highlighting low-income families' views on the scope and potential of play in the early years to National Leaders of Education working in the early years;

The pamphlet is available and being shared through our networks.

• **Media**: end of project articles for Nursery World, the Guardian and the Times Educational Supplement to raise awareness of the key findings from the project;

These articles will be submitted upon completion of the project.

Policy: providing briefing papers for policy makers (for example the Minister of State for Children, Young
People and Families) summarizing key findings and implications from the project. We will also work with
lobbying groups, for example TACTYC and PACEY, to provide evidence from the project to the All-Party
Parliamentary Group (APPG) Education Select Committee about policies to reduce the effects of socioeconomic disadvantage to low-income families with young children

The findings have been shared through the leading think tank, the Centre for Social Justice (CSJ), in relation to their work on Family hubs. We were invited and provided written evidence to the Review of Early Years led by Sir David Bell in December 2023. We shared a policy briefing with Helen Hayes MP in January 2024 sharing interim findings from this project. We are developing a briefing paper for minsters summarising the key findings to be shared in January 2025. Due to the change in government in the Summer of 2024, it has not been appropriate timing to share our work with ministers.

• Academics: conference presentations at the annual British Educational Research Association conference and the European Early Childhood Education Research Association (EECERA) (which will be institutionally funded). Four international peer reviewed journal articles to share key findings for each research question. The research team will each lead on a journal article.

We held an ethics seminar entitled *Sharing good ethical practice*, on Monday 8th July 2024, 10am-3pm. Our HomeStart partners attended and presented along with colleagues from across the university. We have presented at EECERA (September 2024) and will present at ENQI (paper accepted) (January 2025) and BERA (September 2025).